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Location: 135 N.Market St., New Braunfels
THE JOSEPH KLEIN HOUSE*
ONE OF THE GERMAN IMMIGRANTS
WHO ARRIVED IN NEW BRAUNFELS IN
1845, J0OSEPH KLEIN BUILT THIS SIMPLE
FRAME HOUSE ABOUT 1852¢ORIGINALLY
IT STOOD AT THE CORNER OF SAN
ANTONIO AND MARKET STREETSeIN
1859 KLEIN SOLD THE PROPERTY TO
WILLIAM KUSE,A SHOEMAKER WHO
KEPT HIS SHOP IN PART OF THE HOUSE,
THE STRUCTURE WAS MOVED HERE
TO THE BACK OF THE LOT IN 1898,
* %k %k * %k %
WHEN KUSE'S DAUGHTER EMILIE (1854-1930)
AND HER HUSBAND THEODOR EGGELING
* % % * % %

(1851-1916)BUILT THE EGGELING HOTELe**

RECORDED TEXAS HISTORIC LANDMARK - 1979%%%

*1/2 inch lettering
*%*3/8 inch lettering
**%]1/4 inch lettering
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THE JOSEPH KLEIN HOUSE, New Braunfels
b
Betty Mitchell and Marge Crumbaker, Houston

In November of 1831, a first generation Texan of Castilian
Spanish descent received from the Republic of Mexico four leagues
of Texas lands in large grants made to him because of his citizen-
ship as a Texan born in San Antonio. Three leagues (13,285.2
acres) of his land lay in what was to become Comal County. The
fortunate grantee who received this bountifulallocation was Juan
Mart}n Veramendi (1778-1883), who died at a comparatively young
age.

On March 15, 1845, Prince Carl of Solms-Braunfels contracted
to purchase from heirs of Juan Martin Veramendi (Maria Antonia
Veramendi Garza and her husband Rafael E. Garza) 1265 acres of
this land, and used it as the terrain upon which he established
the town of New Braunfels. Later in March 1845, Prince Solms
had Engineer Nicolaus Zink survey the land and lay out thS town,
preparatory to allocating half-acre lots to the settlers.

Although Joseph Klein was a member of the early contingents
who arrived in New Braunfels in 1845, he did not receive his
lot until April 22, 1848. He sold the lot and whatever improve-
ments it had on February 16, 1859, to William Kuse (pronounced
Koo’ sey ) whose family held it for almost a century, retaining 1t
until September 6, 1955, when it was bought by W. H. Dillen who,
with his wife Nan, sold it on April 22, 1977, to the present (1978)
owners, Betty Mitchell and Marge Crumbaker. 3

The Joseph Klein house is located on Lot 96, New City Block
2003, at 135 Market Street, New Braunfels, Texas. Although the
American Legion Auxiliary, Comal Unit 179, has published a book-
let that stated (1976) categorically that "The Joseph Klein House

. was built in 1852", there does not seem to be any contemporane-
ous evidence from the 1850s to support this contention, other than
circumstantial evidence.

Circumstantial evidence does, however, point to 1852 as the
construction date. Klein used his Lot 96 property as collateral
for a loan of one hundred dollars borrowed from Andreas Geibel
on January 1, 1852. While no release of that mortgage seems to
have been recorded, it would appear that a release was effected.
Then on February U4, 1853, Joseph Klein -- joined by his brother
Valentin -- used the Lot 96 property as collateral for a loan of
three hundred dollars borrowed from the 53-year-old Emigration Comp-
any naturalist, Otto Friedrich. Valentin Klein's joining with Joseph
in pledging the property, plus the increased valuation of the lot,
would indicate that within the past thirteen months some improve-
ment, such as the dwelling house, had been placed on the property.
Valentin Klein may have helped Joseph build his house and thus
have acquired a mechanic's lien interest in the property by the
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time of the 1853 mor"cgage.LI

It thus becomes possible to construe the original building
date as 1852, even though this cannot be prowed beyond the shad-
ow of a doubt. The motivation for constructing this dwelling
house in the year 1852 is rather obscure. As noted above Joseph
Klein came to New Braunfels in 1845. He and his parents and his
siblings had come from Germany on the ship Herschel, disembarking
at Galveston in November or December 1844 and being transhipped
to Lavaca Bay, then removed to a temporary camp on Chocolate
Bayou, and to yet another temporary camp on Spring Creek above
Victoria before being led to New Braunfels in March 1845. In 1850
Joseph Klein was living in the household of his parents, Stephen
and Margrethe Klein. Also in the household were Valentin, 22, and
Eliza Klein, 15. The family financial circumstances seem to have
been rather well above average for settlers in 1850, when hard-
ships prevailed and economic conditions were strained considerably.
Stephen Klein, a farmer aged 66, gave his valuation as $3,200.00;
Joseph, then 36, gave his worth as two hundred and fifty dollars;
and Valentin, 22, claimed a valuation of seventy-five dollars.

Not too many families in town %n 1850 could match that set of
valuations in such hard times.

Since Joseph Klein was of an advanced age for bachelorhood,
it would be possible to speculate that he may have been a widower
and hopeful of remarriage when he built this house of his own on
the lot which had been allocated to him as a piloneer settler.
Whatever merit such a supposition might have, the fact remalns
that no marriage has been found for him earlier ghan January 26,
1855, when he wed Mrs. Johanna Freitag, a widow. Thus it would
appear that Klein was quite forehanded in building a home, since
he must have had the house ready for occupancy for a year or two
before his marriage. He sold the house on Lot 96 in the year
1859, as noted above, and cannot be found on the 1860 census roll
as a resident of Comal County.

By local standards, the Joseph Klein house is said to be a
structure "in the German Colonial style". Wooden-peg construction
was used and is still retained in 1978 in the framing of the win-
dows and in the cedar roof. The structure is said to retain its
original doors, and to retain also the door latches and hinges and
perhaps other hardware pieces which were handmade for the use of
the builder at the time of construction. The exterior wood is
cypress, and the interior finish is mostly in pine wood, both
in floors and ceilings. The walls combine some cypress with the
pine wood. The front exterior wall is of fachwerk.*

From the extant historical photos, it would appear that only
two of the rooms -- the front two -- were built orginally, with
two other rooms to the rear of these added at a later date. The
front porch was probably added later also. In the New Braunfels
birdseye map of 1882, the siderooms at the back and the front porch
were already in evidence. Some of the comparative expertise that

* In the photographs all walls appear to be frame or wooden
construction. C. Williams, 4/3/79
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appear in the construction may be attributable to help receilved
from relatives. Some sources say that Stephen Klein, Joseph
Klein's father, was a good carpenter, although he classified him-
self as a farmer in the census returns. There was saild to be also
an in-law, Johann Jakob Jahn, husband of Anna Klein, who was a pro-
fessional furniture maker. In the 1960s, Lonn Taylor and David
Warren attributed to Johann Michael Jahn a corner cupboard said to
have been built in 18601 8Bor the home of Joseph Klein. Any connec-
tion between the cupboard and the house which Joseph Klein sold in
1859 might be considered virtually non-existent; also the confusion
over the middle name of furniture-maker Jahn adversely affects

any connection between the cupboard and the 1852 Joseph Klein house.7

When Joseph Klein sold the house in 1859, William Kuse bought
it. Kuse, who was 42 years old in 1860, was naturglized as an
American citizen in that year. His family then included his wife,
Friedricke, 36; a son, Carl, 10; a daughter, Emilie, 6; and a
second son, Friedrich, one year old. Kuse and all of the other
family members except Friedrich had been born in Prussia. The
occupation of Kuse was "shoemaker", according to the 1860 census.
Tradition in New Braunfels places the shoe shop of Kuse in the
north end of the living room in the Klein house.

8

As noted above, for ninety-six years Kuse and/or his descendants
owned the dwelling built on Lot 96 by Joseph Klein. However, there
were changes in its placement and aspect during that long ownership.
Probably it was during the Kuse ownership that the two back rooms
and the front porch were added to the original dwelling. At one
time the porch eaves seem to have been trimmed with some sort of
twelve or fourteen-inch fluting or "lace"; this may have been pressed
tin or it may have been wood. The photo which shows 1t is quite ob-
scure. Also at the time of the photo, the porch columns or posts
seem to have been of turned wood. John F. Torrey of Connecticut
had a mill for making lumber in New Braunfels as early as 1848, but
there is no documentation for turning lathes for such columns or posts
as early as 1852. The picture that shows the fancy trim on the porch
eaves apparently dates from the 1890s or early 1900s, as its fore-
ground shows a peddling or delivery cart such as would have plied
the residential section of a Texas town in that era.

In the time of the birdseye map of 1882, the house seems to have
been the small, compact "German colonial" structure of early times.
Yet in the photo that shows the fancy trim on the eaves, there looms
on the left of the original structure the gable end of a second
structure hard by the Joseph Klein house, f not actually attached
to the Klein house. Modifications to the left side of the Klein
house suggest that at some time there may have been an annex or ell-
part attached to that side of the Klein house. The right gable end
of the original house shows 1in 1978 some splicings in the siding
that occurred when the porch and the side room were added. No such
splicings are apparent on the left side of the house. Splicings
for porch and sideroom undoubtedly existed at one time on the left
side of the house, for the additions occurred on that side just as
they did on the right side. Yet in 1978, the left side shows
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weatherboarding unbroken by seams or splicings for additions --
suggesting that this side of the original structure has been
modified considerably at some time. It may well be that at some
interim stage of the occupancy or use of the Klein house an ell
was attached on this left side, and later was pulled down to give
the house its original shape but also to give the owner the neces-
sity of replacing the siding completely on the left side of the
structure.

Even at the time of the gay-Nineties or early 20th century
photo, the original cedar shingle roof appears to have been cover-
ed over with corrugated sheet iron. In that photo, there appears
to have been a chimney still standing at the gable end of the left
front room of the original house, or perhaps a few feet back from
the peak of the roof on that end of the house. Perhaps that chim-
ney was removed when natural gas became available to be piped into
dwellings in New Braunfels, for heating and cooking purposes.

Almostialit dwelling houses require some modifications over the
years, to accommodate living styles and altered family circum-
stances. The Klein house suffered a major upheaval in the form
of a relocation. About 1897, the Joseph Klein house was removed
for its original corner at Market and San Antonio streets, and was
resituated about 100 to 110 feet north of its original location,
to face Market Street, yet still occupying a part of Lot 96. The
reason for the relocation was economic.

Emilie Kuse (1854-1930), who had married Theodor Eggeling
(1851-1916) .and was considered an outstanding entrepreneur in New
Braunfels, had joined with her husband in operating the very suc-

. cessful Plaza Hotel, on the city's-court Square. By the 1890s she

was in weda her forties, a mature woman eager to make the most of opporgun—

ities and elevate her family financially. When Miss Helen Gould
suggested that the International & Great Northern Railroad develop
Landa Park as a recreation center, and New Braunfels began to at-
tract thousands of visitors who came by way of the railroad and
stayed over in the town's hotels, Mrs. Eggeling was ready to en-
large her hotel operation. By 1897 she could foresee the need
for a second hotel to receive the overflow of guests from the
Plaza as well as generate business of its own.

The Kuse parents were probably retired by this time, as Wil-
1iam Kuse would have been 79 in 1897 and Mrs. Kuse 73 in that
year. Thus it was that Mrs. Eggeling persuaded her parents to
move their dwellingecaway from the San Antonio and Market Street
corner to occupy the back of the very large lot, to make way for
the construction of the Comal Hotel. (Lot 96 was about half an
acre in extent, in its original size and form.)

Although she built the hotel very promptly in the late 1890s,
Emilie Eggeling finally purchased the site (Lot 96) in 1901.
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Information is lacking, but perhaps the elder Kuses occupied
the Klein house after it was moved to the back of the lot, to face
Market Street. In 1897 William Kuse would have been 79 and his
wife 73. The pair may have considered themselves superannuated
and subjectito fhe care of theilr daughter, Emilie, and perhaps Emilie
looked after her parents more conveniently after she was operating
the Comal Hotel next door to their home.

Considerable parallelism of structural uses may have occurred
while the historic house and the hotel settled into theilr post-
1897 roles. The Kuse family outbuildings and garden must have seemed as
convenient to the hotel as to the original, relocated dwelling.
Emilie Kuse Eggeling may have taken advantage of these household
adjuncts, including the garden and the structures for keeping pigs,
cows, and chickens. Tradition says there was a Kuse or Eggeling
cowlot near the Comal Hotel, and that when a guest expressed a
desire for fresh milk, Emilie went out to the cowlot, milked a cow
and served fresh milk without delay. From such evidence as this,
it might be surmised that Emilie lived either in the old Joseph
Klein dwelling or in the Comal Hotel, in the custom of the day,
and that the Eggelings==orhKusSes== continued to keep cows and
other property such as chickens on the back of Lot 96.

After the fashion of German families, Emilie leaned upon her
three children for supportive help, bringinghbeagh of them sequent-
ially into the hotel operation, and seemingly using the old Kleiln
house as some part of the total operation of hotel and feed store.
(The Eggeling family feed store was across the street and south of
the Comal Hotel.) Her family probably continued living in the house.

W. H. Dillen bought all of the properties on Lot 96, as well
as the feed store, and began refurbishing and restoration proced-
ures in the 1950s.

When the Klein house was resituated in the late 1890s, its
porch floor was found to be unsound because of rot, and was re-
placed. Tin roofing still in 1978 covers the original cedar
shingles. Very little basic change has been made 1n the house.
Currently (1978) it is the studio and gallery of Western artist
Garnet Buster, and is in the ownership of Betty Mitchell and Marge
Crumbaker of Houston, who are responsible for its continuing ex-
istence and maintenance.

It is believed that the Joseph Klein house is eligible for
historic commemoration because its site was granted to Klein as
one of the original settlers of New Braunfels, and because it was
built by Klein in 1852. The house is crude and typical of the
very early houses in the town.

N.B.: The House (discussed above) before which the dray
was posed for the late 1890 or early 1900s photo may or may not
be the Klein house. Family sentiment emphasizes the dray rather
thanithe house. Nevertheless the fact remain that the Klein house
right side, has had its weatherboarding replaced for one reason
or another. In 1978, the siding on the left and that on the right
are not of the same periods.



Klein House 6

Footnotes

1. Frederick C. Chabot, With the Makers of San Antonio (privately
published, 1937), pp. 243-24%; Virginia H. Taylor, The Spanish
Archives of the General Land Office of Texas (The Lone Star Press,
Austin, 1955), p. 250.

2. Oscar Haas, History of New Braunfels and Comal County,
1844-1946 (privately published, 1968), pp. 16-24, 172-17L.

3. Deed Records of Comal County, Texas, Volume C, page 325.

4. Ibid.; also see Charles William and Ethel Hander Geue, A
New Land Beckoned (privately published,1966), p. 112; Haas, op. cit.,
Pp. 251, 268.

5. Mrs. V. C. Carpenter, compiler, The 1850 Census of Texas
(privately published, 1964), Comal County household # 73; see
also the 1850 census on microfilm foom the National Archives of
the United States.

6. Information from the office of the County Clerk, Comal
County, via telephone, 12/28/1978.

7. Haas, op. cit., pp. 251, 273.
8. Ibid., p. 276.
9. Ebid., pp. 211-212. Helen Miller Gould was the daughter of

railway magnate Jay Gould, and served as a voting stockholder in
several railroads in her own right.
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THE JOSEPH KLEIN HOUSE
by Betty Mitchell and Marge Crumbaker

In a booklet published in 1976 by the American Legion Auxiliary,
Comal Unit 179, titled "Historical Landmarks In and Around

New Braunfels, Texas," the following was written about the
Joseph Klein house:

"The Joseph Klein house at 135 North Market Street,
is of German Colonial style and was built in 1852. Original doors,
wood-pegged windows, porch columns: and wood-pegged cedar roof and
joints are of historical significance.”

Additionally, the iron hardware--door latches and hinges--were
handmade at the time of construction. The outside of the house
is cypress. The interior is pine, both floors and ceilings.

The walls are a combination of pine and cypress. The interior of
the house is in perfect condition. Currently it is the studio
and gallery of western artist Garnet Buster.

The Joseph Klein house is owned by Betty Mitchell and Marge
Crumbaker of Houston, purchased as a part of the Prince Solms Inn
property. The former ownexy Bill and Nan Dillen, were told

the Klein house once occupied the corner where the Prince Solms Inn

now stands. When the hotel was contemplated, the Joseph Klein
House was moved to another position on the property. It appears
on the New Braunf@éﬁ Birdseye Map of 1882.

Johann

Mrs. 38QPK Jahn, wife of an early-day New Braunfels cabinet-maker,
was a sister to Joseph Klein. Joseph's father, Stephen Klein,
was a well-known New Braunfels carpenter. .
[ w'c l U’o
Bill Dillen was told by previous owners of the house that a shoe V’fﬂ“’
house was moved from the corner to its present location, the porch thW
fleoring was too rotted to save. Other than that, the house is *6

intact. A tin roof now covers the original cedar shingles. 1“&MM
The front walls of the house are fechwerk. 4 goﬂ

repair shop was once in the north end of the living room. When they

It is beleived Joseph Klein built his own home with the help of
his father Stephen.



0476 %‘*"M’
The Joseph Klein House page 2

In the book, "Texas Furniture," by Lonn Taylor and David

Warren, there is pictured and described on pages 254-5, a

corner cupboard, made in 1860 by Johann Michael Jahn for Josep
———

Klein's home.

The materials are listed as pine and mahogany. The cupboard Ubwd
is 60 inches high, 37 inches wide and 25 inches deep.

The style is bowfront with! block feet. It is owned by Bill

and Nan Dillen.

Q“ﬁ

The pickets in the fence which now surrounds the front yard of
the Joseph Klein house are a part of its original fencing. The
gate was purchased in Comaltown from an 1890 house.
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JOSEPH KLEIN

Joseph Klein was in the first three contingents of
German immigrants, under contract with the German Emigration
Company, to reach the shores of Texas in 1844. He sailed on the
ship Herschel. He traveled inland from Indianola with the
other members of the Herschel passengers, . and arrived at
their destination of the Guadalupe and Comal Rivers on Good
Friday, March 21, 1845.

The town of New Braunfels had been laid
out in lots and blocks by engineer Nicolas Zink. The 1lot
numbers were placed in a hat. Each iﬁmigrant was allowed to draw
for the lot he was to receive. Joseph Klein drew Lot Number 96,
containing one-half acre of land, evidenced by deed from the
German Emigration Company, dated April 22, 1848, recorded in

Volume C, page 325, Comal County Deed Records.

In 185, when he arrived in New Braunfels, Joseph Klein
was 31, as he 1850 Federal census shows he was then 36, In
1850 he was living in the household of Stephen, age 66, and
Margrethe Klein, 62, Also in that household were Valentin, 22,
and Eliza Klein, 15, Ellen, 58, and Martha Klein, 17, were others
of the name living in New Braunfels in 1850, A Jacob Klein, 23,

had died in 1845 or 1846 during the fearful early days of plague

among the German colonists, ¥

#0scar Haas, Histoxy of New Braunfels and Comal County, Texas, 1841 -19L6
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